RECEIVED

Apr 25 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS**

The Hon. G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001301

Alliance to Preserve the Old White Horse Road Corridor, LLC
and Mary Jean Horney, Appellants,

v.

RP&L, LLC and the Greenville County Planning
Commission Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William M. Wilson III (S.C. Bar No. 15808)
Wyche, P.A.
P.O. Box 728
Greenville, SC 29602-0728
(864) 242-8200

William F. Childers, Jr.
Eller Tonnsen Bach
1306 South Church Street,
Greenville, South Carolina 29605
(864) 236-5013

Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This matter involves an appeal from the approval of a 73-home subdivision in northern Greenville County by the Greenville County Planning Commission. Appellants are an adjacent landowner and a limited liability company representing the interests of local citizens who oppose the development on the basis that it fails to comply with the Greenville County Land Development Regulations.

1. Did the Planning Commission err by failing to make any findings of fact, conclusions of law, or other written grounds to delineate the reasoning for its approval of the Application for the Stables subdivision?
2. Did the Planning Commission err in approving the Application for the Stables subdivision when there was no evidence in the record that the Stables satisfied all three criteria of LDR Article 3.1 and/or when the decision was controlled by an error of law?
3. Did the Planning Commission err in approving the Application for the Stables subdivision when there was no evidence in the record that the Stables had approval from the fire department?
4. Did the Planning Commission err in approving the Application for the Stables subdivision when there was no evidence in the record that the Stables satisfied LDR Article 11 and the Greenville County Zoning Ordinance?
5. Did the Planning Commission violate Appellants' procedural due process rights by not making the Revised Preliminary Plan available to the public prior to the May 26, 2021 meeting?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 31, 2021, the developer, RP&L, LLC (“RP&L”) filed a preliminary subdivision application with the Greenville County Planning Commission (“Application”). (R. pp. 167-68, 175).

On April 19, 2021, the Planning Commission Subdivision Advisory Committee (“SAC”) recommended several changes to the preliminary plan for the Stables. (R. pp. 173-74, 176-84).

On April 26, 2021, RP&L submitted a revised preliminary plan (the “Revised Preliminary Plan”) in response to SAC’s recommendations. (R. pp. 200, 208-209, 225).

On May 26, 2021, the Planning Commission held a meeting to decide whether to approve the Stables Revised Preliminary Plan. (R. pp. 234-241). The Planning Commission voted 5 to 4 to approve the Stables. (R. p. 241).

On June 7, 2021, the Planning Commission issued a written decision in the form of a letter to RP&L informing it of its decision to approve the Stables. (R. pp. 186-87).

On June 25, 2021, Appellants timely filed the current appeal in Greenville County. (R. p. 420). Both parties submitted supporting memoranda and the Record on Appeal. (Final Brief of Appellants; Final Brief of Respondents; Final Reply Brief of Appellants; Record on Appeal) (R. pp. 15-63, 90-457).

On July 6, 2022, the lower court issued a Form 4 Order affirming the Planning Commission. (Form 4 Order) (R. p. 1).

On August 17, 2022, the lower court issued its Order Affirming Decision of Greenville County Planning Commission. (Formal Order) (R. pp. 4-14).

On September 16, 2022, Appellants timely filed and served their Notice of Appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (R. pp. 458-471).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Mary Jean Horney owns a small horse farm located at 10010 Old White Horse Road immediately adjacent to the proposed Stables subdivision, and she is impacted by the decision of the Planning Commission. (R. pp. 325-26). She is the organizer of the Appellant Alliance to Preserve the Old White Horse Corridor, LLC (“Alliance”)—a limited liability company formed in the State of South Carolina for the purpose of preserving an area of Greenville County commonly referred to as “the Old White Horse Corridor.” (R. p. 421). Respondent RP&L proposes to subdivide and develop an approximately 43-acre property located at the intersection of Meadow Brook Road and Old White Horse Road in a rural section of Greenville County. (R. p. 96). The area in which the Stables is proposed to be located consists of rural agricultural and equestrian land. (R. pp. 94, 325-26). Among the immediate surrounding properties of the Stables include Ms. Horney’s 31-acre horse farm to the north; Riverbend Equestrian Park, a 63-acre equestrian facility, to the southeast; as well a 58-acre farm to the east. (R. pp. 94, 325-26). The other surrounding properties consist mainly of agricultural and/or equestrian uses. (R. pp. 94, 325-26).

In its Application, RP&L sought for the Stables to be a “cluster development,” which is characterized by lots clustered to preserve open space for recreational, environmental, or ecological reasons. (R. pp. 167, 387). Cluster development is also referred to as “open space development,” which is defined as “a form of residential subdivision that permits housing units to be grouped on sites or lots with dimensions, frontages, and setbacks reduced from conventional sizes provided the density of the tract as a whole shall not exceed the density allowed by the zoning district under existing regulations and the remaining land area is devoted to common open space.” (R. p. 393). By definition, cluster developments “are intended to

preserve substantial amounts of open space for recreational, environmental, and ecological reasons.” (R. p. 397). The open space can consist of “developable” and “undevelopable” land as defined in the Zoning Ordinance and/or LDR. (R. p. 399).

The Stables originally was proposed to be a total of 43-acres, consisting of 73 units, and providing for 14.05 acres of “open space.” (R. p. 167). The lots vary in size, but most are approximately 7800 square feet, or 0.174 acres. (R. pp. 160, 175). With its application, RP&L submitted a preliminary plan also dated March 31, 2021. (R. pp. 160, 175). Notably, this preliminary plan did not label any areas of land as developable open space and also did not specify any proposed uses for the open space as required by the LDR Article 11.3.2(B). (R. pp. 160, 175, 388).

Prior to the meeting, the Planning Commission was provided with several letters in opposition to the development. (R. pp. 242-361). Attorney William F. Childers, Jr. sent a letter on behalf of Appellant, Ms. Mary Jean Horney. (R. pp. 315-322). In total, 19 parties submitted opposition correspondence to the Planning Commission. (R. pp. 242-361). At the meeting, Attorney Childers appeared on behalf of Ms. Horney. (R. pp. 234-35). Attorney Childers argued the Stables’ preliminary plan should be denied because (1) the Stables was incompatible with the surrounding land use density of the area and (2) the preliminary plan did not comply with LDR Article 11 as related to open space requirements of cluster developments. (R. pp. 234-35). Another nearby landowner, Shannon Wilson, also presented in opposition to the Stables. (R. pp. 235-238). Ms. Wilson presented a Petition opposing the Stables with 191 names, (R. pp. 203-207, 236), and she raised several concerns with the Stables related to (1) traffic increases, (2) storm water management and flooding, (3) the safety of the proposed access to the development; (4) density; and (5) the lack of compatibility with the surrounding rural area. (R. pp. 235-38). All

of these matters and concerns raised by Mr. Childers, Ms. Wilson, and the Petitioners were addressed in more detail in the letters. (R. pp. 242-361).

The engineer for the project, Kevin Tumblin, appeared on behalf of the developer in favor of the Stables. (R. pp. 238-41). During the engineer's presentation, at least one Commission member raised concerns related to the proposed access for the subdivision, which is located on Meadow Brook Road, a small county road that only has ingress or egress via the busy Old White Horse Road. (R. pp. 239-40). Specifically, Commissioner Cindy Clark noted the proposed access was an "awkward way to get into the subdivision and leave the subdivision." (R. p. 239). Commissioner Clark also expressed concern that the Greenville County Fire Department had not commented on the proposed access, noting she had "real concerns" about a fire truck being able to access the development and noted she would like to hear from the fire department about that issue. (R. pp. 239-40). In response, Planning Commission staff informed Commissioner Clark they had contacted the Fire Department for comment; however, they had not responded. (R. p. 240). Planning Commission staff noted that the decision to approve the Stables could be delayed until the fire department could comment; however, that did not happen. (R. p. 240). Commissioner Clark also raised issues with flooding in the area as was shown in correspondence received prior to the meeting from a local resident, Don Woodard, who carefully researched the flooding issues in the area. (R. pp. 191-99, 239). Commissioner Clark concluded her position by stating, "Everything west of the Reedy is along this corridor is very rural, large lots. This is not a compatible use along this corridor. And the fact that [the Stables] is sandwiched between 2 equestrian facilities I think is also not a good fit." (R. p. 240).

Following Commissioner Clark's comments, Commissioner Frank Hammond asked the engineer if there were any fire safety access issues with the development as proposed to which

the engineer responded negatively; however, the engineer did not cite to any evidence in support of this response, nor was any basis provided for such an opinion by an engineer. (R. p. 240).

Of note, Commissioner Jay Rogers asked the engineer the distance between the Stables and Green Valley Country Club. (R. p. 241). When the engineer was unsure, Commissioner Rogers stated his belief that the Stables was not incompatible with the surrounding area because at least one of the subdivisions near Green Valley has lots that are smaller than one acre. (R. p. 241). It appears from the transcript that Commissioner Rogers was referencing a GIS screen shot presented by Planning Commission staff at the meeting and available at page 63 of the Planning Commission file. (R. pp. 229, 241). Notably, it appears the GIS screen shot that Commissioner Rogers was referencing shows the location of developments east of the Reedy River that are not on Old White Horse Road; whereas, the Stables is located on Old White Horse Road west of the Reedy River. (R. p. 229). This seemingly minor distinction is in fact a major error that impacted the Planning Commission's decision in this case because the land located east of the Reedy is zoned Residential-15 (R-15); however, the land located west of the Reedy is zoned Residential-Suburban (R-S). (R. pp. 395-96). Additionally, the land east of the Reedy is characterized as "Suburban Neighborhood" land-use under the Greenville County Comprehensive Plan, which allows for a gross density of 3 to 5 dwellings per acre. (R. p. 419). However, the land west of the Reedy is labeled as "Suburban Edge," which allows for only 0 to 1 dwelling per acre. (R. p. 419). Stated another way, it appears that Commissioner Rogers in fact compared the Stables to developments in different zoning and land use classifications in his finding that the Stables was compatible with the surrounding area.

After these exchanges, the Planning Commission took a vote and approved the Application with five votes in favor and four votes against. (R. p. 241). On June 7, 2021, the

Planning Commission mailed a letter to RP&L informing it of the approval of the Stables, which is the only written record of the Planning Commission's decision. (R. pp. 186-87).¹

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal is authorized by South Carolina's Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act, which provides a right to appeal from Planning Commission decisions involving land development regulations for any "party in interest." *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150; *see also Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort Cty.*, 431 S.C. 630, 635 & n.4, 850 S.E.2d 29, 31 & n.4 (2020). Neighboring property owners who stand to be negatively impacted by a proposed subdivision are among the parties authorized to undertake such an appeal, and so are citizen organizations. *See Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm'n*, 426 S.C. 97, 825 S.E.2d 721 (Ct. App. 2019).

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B): "A record of all actions on all land development plans and subdivision plats with the grounds for approval or disapproval and any conditions attached to the action must be maintained as a public record. In addition, the developer must be notified in writing of the actions taken." *Id.* (emphasis added). The standard of review under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150 requires reversal when the decision of the Planning Commission "is based on errors of law" or when it "is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion." *Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort Cty.*, 431 S.C. 630, 635 & n.4, 850 S.E.2d 29, 31 & n.4 (2020) (internal quotations omitted).

It is important to note that the "any evidence" standard only applies in "the zoning context," and therefore does not apply here where the issue is compliance of a subdivision with

¹ Appellants did not receive a copy of the written decision until receipt of the Commission file via the Planning Commission's counsel on November 2, 2021. (R. p. 20).

land development regulations. *Id.* (citing *Peterson Outdoor Advert. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 327 S.C. 230, 235, 489 S.E.2d 630, 632 (1997)). S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-780 *et seq.* governs appeals to the Board of Zoning Appeals and then to the circuit court, which is separate from the appeal of land use regulations in Section 6-29-1150. The Board of Zoning Appeals must hold hearings and issue its final decisions and orders in writing with findings of fact and conclusions of law. *Id.* § 6-29-800(F). These findings of facts “must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury.” *Id.* § 6-29-840(A). It follows that the “any evidence” standard governs zoning appeals. *See Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 656 S.E.2d 346 (2008). But the standard of Section 6-29-1150, which involves compliance with land development regulations, is different and is not required to be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury. It follows that the “any evidence” standard does not apply here.

ARGUMENT

Appellants essentially make three arguments that justify reversal of the Planning Commission’s approval of the Stables subdivision Application. Each argument is independently sufficient in itself to require reversal.

First, the Planning Commission erred in not making any written findings of fact, conclusions of law, or other grounds for approving the Stables subdivision under the Greenville County Land Development Regulations (LDR). There simply is no discernible basis for the decision that may be reviewed on appeal. It follows that the Planning Commission’s decision must be reversed as an abuse of discretion, arbitrary and capricious, and/or controlled by an error of law. This first argument alone entitles the Appellants to a reversal.

Second, if the Court can get past the first hurdle, there is no evidence in the record that supports the Planning Commission’s decision. Specifically, there is no evidence that the Stables

subdivision satisfies any of the three criteria of LDR Article 3.1, satisfies the criteria for a cluster development under LDR Article 11, or that fire safety was addressed. If evidence is lacking for even one of the mandatory criteria, then the Planning Commission's approval must be reversed as an abuse of discretion, arbitrary and capricious, and/or controlled by an error of law.

Third, the Planning Commission's approval of the Stables subdivision violated Appellants' procedural due process rights because an incorrect preliminary plan was posted on the Commission's website prior to the May 26, 2021 meeting, which resulted in the correct plan not being available to the public prior to the meeting. It follows that the approval must be reversed.

I. The Planning Commission erred by failing to make any findings of fact, conclusions of law, or other written grounds to delineate the reasoning for its approval of the Application for the Stables subdivision

The South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994 allows for the establishment of local planning commissions, including a county planning commission established by a county council. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-310 to -330. 1150(B). As such, the Greenville County Planning Commission is charged with "the function and duty . . . to undertake a continuing planning program for the physical, social, and economic growth, development, and redevelopment of [Greenville County]." *Id.* § 6-29-340(A). Land development regulations adopted by a county "must include a specific procedure for the submission and approval or disapproval by the planning commission or designated staff." *Id.* § 6-29-1150(A). Under the Greenville County Land Regulations, which were adopted pursuant to the authority of S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1110 et seq., no plat of a subdivision of land shall be filed or recorded until submitted to and approved by the Planning Commission. LDR 1.1. (R. p. 368). Article 3 of the Land Development Regulations includes the general subdivision requirements that must be

met by a developer. Article 11 includes the requirements for cluster developments. In the present case, RP&L's Application sought approval for the Stables subdivision under these Articles.

Importantly, a local planning commission is required to "keep a record of its resolutions, findings, and determinations, which record must be a public record." *Id.* § 6-29-360(B) (emphasis added). Furthermore, when considering an application for a subdivision under the land development regulations, **the Planning Commission was required to set forth in writing "the grounds for its approval or disapproval":**

A record of all actions on all land development plans and subdivision plats with the grounds for approval or disapproval and any conditions attached to the action must be maintained as a public record. In addition, the developer must be notified in writing of the actions taken.

Id. § 6-29-1150(B) (emphasis added). In essence, the Planning Commission must make findings of fact and conclusions of law delineating the reasons for its decision, or at the very least make some record of the grounds for approval or disapproval.

Although such grounds for its decision need only meet the "abuse of discretion" standard on appellate review, *see Grays Hill Baptist Church*, 431 S.C. at 635 & n.4, 850 S.E.2d at 31 & n.4, such a standard cannot be satisfied when the Planning Commission fails to articulate the grounds for its decision, because it is in such a failure that the Planning Commission demonstrates that it failed to exercise any discretion at all. It is well established that the failure to exercise discretion in itself is an abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., Lollis v. Dutton*, 421 S.C. 467, 487, 807 S.E.2d 723, 733 (Ct. App. 2017). As the *Lollis* court explained, when a decision fails to set forth the grounds for its basis or otherwise is "lacking a discernible reason," this failure is tantamount to the failure to exercise discretion and therefore an abuse of discretion:

As to the merits, the circuit court's summary order denying all post-trial motions did not specifically address the above three grounds or the standards set forth in the corresponding statute or rule. We acknowledge that findings of fact and conclusions of

law are generally not required for decisions on motions. See Rule 52(a), SCRCP ("Findings of fact and conclusions of law are unnecessary on decisions of motions under Rules 12 or 56 or any other motion except as provided in Rule 41(b)." (emphasis added)); *Woodson v. DLI Props., LLC*, 406 S.C. 517, 527, 753 S.E.2d 428, 433 (2014) (citing Rule 52, SCRCP, for the proposition that findings of facts and conclusions of law on motions are not required for appellate review). However, the circuit court's order indicates it did not exercise any discretion to evaluate the Duttons' request for fees and costs under Rule 37(c), SCRCP or the UDJA. See *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997) ("A failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion."); see also *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987) ("When the [circuit court] is vested with discretion, but [its] ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred."); *Johnson v. Johnson*, 296 S.C. 289, 304, 372 S.E.2d 107, 115 (Ct. App. 1988) ("A decision lacking a discernible reason is arbitrary and constitutes an abuse of discretion.").

Id.

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