RECEIVED

Apr 24 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001301
Case No. 2021-CP-23-3048

Alliance to Preserve the Old White Horse Road Corridor, LLC
and Mary Jean Horney, Appellant,

v.

RP&L, LLC and the Greenville County Planning Commission, Respondents.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
GREENVILLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION**

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

*Counsel for Respondent Greenville County
Planning Commission*

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

Moreover, our appellate courts have recognized that “detailed orders” with findings of fact and conclusions of law are not necessary to ensure meaningful appellate review. In *Porter v. Labor Depot*, 372 S.C. 560, 643 S.E.2d 96 (Ct. App. 2007), this Court recognized that “not all situations require a detailed order, and the circuit court’s form order may be sufficient if the appellate court can ascertain the basis for the circuit court’s ruling from the record on appeal.” 643 S.E.2d at 100. This Court further acknowledged that “courts reviewing the decisions of administrative agencies may look to written documents as well as records of proceedings as sufficient formats for final decisions.” *Id.*

In support of their position that specific findings of fact and conclusions of law must be made by a local planning commission, the Appellants cite only to two decisions of the circuit court which they erroneously refer to as “circuit court precedent.” See, Appellants’ Brief, p. 12.

However, it is well settled that the decisions of a circuit court judge are not controlling precedent in any instance. See, *Ford v. Beaufort County Assessor*, 398 S.C. 508, 730 S.E.2d 335, 339, n.1 (Ct. App. 2012) ("[t]rial or inferior court decisions are not precedents binding other courts, including appellate courts or other judges of the same trial court"). Thus, the Appellants' reliance on the circuit court decisions is misplaced and should be rejected. Notably, the Appellants rely on no appellate decisions – that being actual legal precedent – to support their position.

Additionally, the Appellants failed to provide the Court with the critical procedural history of the *Northern Greenville County Rural Landowners v. Vicars Construction, LLC* appeal. In that matter, while the Planning Commission's motion for reconsideration was pending as to the order referenced, Judge Edward Miller issued a subsequent order dismissing the appeal as moot. Thus, the order on which the Appellants erroneously rely as "circuit court precedent" was not even a final order. This highlights the reasons that circuit court decisions should not be cited or relied on as precedent or even as persuasive authority. Such decisions have not been fully vetted through the appeals process, as is required for legal precedent under our system of justice.

In sum, the lower court correctly ruled that the Planning Commission was not required to issue a formal written decision with findings of fact and conclusions of law. Instead, the minutes and transcript of the meeting and submittals to the Planning Commission provide a sufficient record to allow for a meaningful review of the Commission's decision.

II. The Appellants' challenge to the evidentiary support for the three review criteria set forth in LDR Article 3.1 was not addressed by the lower court and is not preserved for appellate review. However, even if that issue is deemed preserved, there is sufficient evidence in the record for the Planning Commission to conclude that each of the review criteria was sufficiently met.

The Appellants also challenge the evidentiary basis for the Planning Commission's decision granting preliminary subdivision approval of the Stables subdivision. As an initial argument, the Appellants contend that the record lacks any evidence to support favorable findings under the three review criteria set forth in LDR Article 3.1. (R. 372).¹ That position lacks merit on both procedural and substantive bases.

As a threshold matter, the Appellants have not preserved this issue for appellate review. In *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), the Supreme Court explained that "[i]ssues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court." 602 S.E.2d at 779-780. "Error preservation requirements are intended 'to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.'" *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004), citing *I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "It is well settled that an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to, *and ruled upon by*, the trial court." *Id.* (Emphasis in original). While the Appellants did raise issues related to LDR Article 3.1 in their notice of appeal to the circuit court, the lower court did not address those issues in its order filed August 17, 2022, and the Appellants failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion requesting the lower court to address and specifically rule on those issues. As a result, those issues have been waived for appellate review.

Nonetheless, even if this Court finds the issue to be properly preserved, the Appellants'

¹ "LDR" is a reference to the Greenville County Land Development Regulations.

position lacks merit as there exists sufficient evidence in the record to support a determination that the Stables subdivision meets the LDR Article 3.1 review criteria.

The first criterion requires consideration that “[a]dequate existing infrastructure and transportation systems exist to support the project.” (R. 372). On appeal, the Appellants argue that the roads are insufficient to support the subdivision, and more particularly, they criticize the Planning Commission for not ordering a traffic impact study prior to making a decision. As to the latter point, LDR Article 9.1 addresses when a traffic impact study is required, and for single family developments, the study is only required where there are at least 90 units. (R. 383). The Stables subdivision with its 73 units did not meet that threshold. Nonetheless, the Appellants argue that the Planning Commission erred in failing to exercise its discretion to order a traffic impact study. On this point, the Appellants make inconsistent arguments. On one hand, they argue that “the Planning Commission is allowed broad discretion to order a TIS under the LDR Article 9.” *See*, Appellants’ Brief, p. 15. Thereafter, they concede that Article 9 does not explicitly grant that authority, but “nothing in Article 9 states the Planning Commission lacks the authority to order a TIS for developments of less than 90 homes.” *See*, Appellants’ Brief, p. 15. At any rate, whether to request a traffic impact study is at the very least discretionary, and the Planning Commission did not commit any error of law in following the requirements of LDR Article 9.1, which mandates a traffic impact study only for single family developments of 90 or more units.

Moreover, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support a finding that the transportation infrastructure will support the project. The ingress and egress from the subdivision is onto Meadow Brook Road, which is a county road. Kevin Tumblin of Freeman and Associates, the civil engineer for the developer, testified that improvements would be made

to Meadow Brook Road. (R. 239-240). Thus, there is evidence of improvements to the infrastructure from the engineer. Additionally, the Commission was advised that there were no concerns from the South Carolina Department of Transportation (R. 239), and the staff recommended approval as well. (R. 218). Accordingly, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support a finding that the first criterion is satisfied.

The second criterion requires that “[t]he project is compatible with the surrounding land use density.” (R. 372). The Appellants argue that the project is not compatible with the uses of adjoining tracts, which are primarily agricultural or equestrian uses. The criterion, however, addresses land use *density*. Nonetheless, the subject property, like the surrounding properties, is zoned Residential-Suburban (R-S), the purpose of which is “to provide reasonable safeguards for areas in the process of development with predominantly single family dwellings, but are generally still rural in character.” (R. 234). The zoning district therefore anticipates single family residential development within a rural area. The recommended density is zero to one dwelling per acre. (R. 234). The evidence reflects that the Stables subdivision has a density of 1.7 units per acre which is not within the recommended parameters but is permitted under the R-S zoning for a cluster development. *See*, Zoning Ordinance, § 7:2 (Table 7.1). (R. 401). The staff recommended approval of the project, and given the evidence in the record, the majority of the Commission properly concluded that the second criterion was sufficiently met.

The third criterion requires that the project be “compatible with the site’s environmental conditions, such as but not limited to, wetlands, flooding, endangered species and/or habitat, and historic sites and/or cemeteries.” (R. 372). As Kevin Tumblin testified, the project was designed as a cluster development to create open spaces to the rear of the property and to create a 750 foot buffer from the Reedy River. (R. 238). In addition, the Commission received testimony from

Tumblin that flooding and stormwater management is not an issue in that the design will include a stormwater detention pond and that water currently flowing to an existing pond on the property will be redirected to the detention pond. (R. 239). He opined that “any flooding for that pond should improve.” (R. 239). In contrast, the Appellants rely on an email from Donald Woodward on the stormwater issue, but according to the email, Woodward has no engineering or subject matter expertise. He is identified as the “proprietor” of Firstfruits Farm of South Carolina, LLC, and holds an undergraduate degree in zoology and a masters degree in biochemistry. (R. 191-192). Woodward did not testify or speak at the Planning Commission hearing. In sum, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support a finding that the third criterion is satisfied.

Although the lower court did not address any issues related to LDR Article 3.1, the record demonstrates nonetheless that there is sufficient evidence for the Planning Commission to conclude that each of the review criteria was sufficiently met.

III. The lower court correctly ruled that there was sufficient evidence in the record to demonstrate that issues related to fire safety and access by the fire department were considered by the Planning Commission.

The Appellants also argue that the preliminary plan for the Stables subdivision was erroneously approved without input from the fire department or consideration of fire safety issues. The lower court correctly rejected that argument. During the May 26, 2021 meeting of the Planning Commission, the issue of access for first responders, including the fire department, was addressed. In response to questioning on this issue, Kevin Tumblin explained that “the fire department’s main access would be on Meadowbrook Road[.] [T]hey are going to widen and then into our subdivision, so there won’t be a 16 foot access. Then we have a secondary access, maybe halfway down the road that they would only use in an emergency if the front entrance

was blocked.” (R. 240). Tumblin was then asked, “Is there any reason to believe there’s a fire safety access issue?” to which he replied: “No. After we do the improvements to the front entrance and widen it, what the county recommends, there won’t be an issue.” (R. 240). In sum, the fire safety and access issues were raised and addressed. Accordingly, as the lower court correctly ruled, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support the decision of the Planning Commission to grant preliminary approval for the subdivision.

IV. The lower court correctly ruled that the evidence in the record supports the discretionary decision by the Planning Commission that the preliminary plan met the cluster development requirements set forth in LDR Article 11.

The Appellants further argue that there is no evidence that the preliminary plan for the Stables subdivision complied with LDR Article 11 which governs cluster developments. In making their arguments, the Appellants rely primarily on a property survey dated June 17, 2021, which post-dates the Planning Commission meeting on May 26, 2021 and the decision made on that date. It is elementary that such new evidence is not probative to show that the Planning Commission committed an error of law in its decision.

At any rate, the Appellants’ position focuses on the delineation of both developed and undeveloped open spaces. LDR Article 11.1 provides that “[h]ome sites are clustered to preserve open space for recreation, environmental, or ecological reasons.” (R. 387). The Appellants insist that there is no evidence that the open space, which is located at the rear of the property towards the Reedy River, is intended for recreation, environmental, or ecological reasons; yet, the very nature of that open space, which the Appellants describe in their brief as a “dense forest” and areas within the immediate floodplain of the Reedy River, support a finding that the open space could be used for any or all of those reasons.

The Appellants also complain that the preliminary plan does not satisfy LDR Article 11.4 addressing access to the open areas. Yet, a review of the revised preliminary plan (updated April 26, 2021) shows that the open spaces at the rear of the property are accessible to non-adjoining lots through access provided at a cul-de-sac. By way of the access through the cul-de-sac, there will be direct access for the residents of the Stables subdivision.

Lastly, the Appellants contend that the amount of open space is insufficient. Based on information available to the Planning Commission, the tract was described as 43.0 acres, which under Open Space Residential Development, Option #1, required that there be thirty percent of common open space. *See*, Zoning Ordinance, § 7:2 (Table 7.2). (R. 401). Thus, the 43.0 acre development required 12.9 acres of open space, both developable and undevelopable. The staff reported to the Planning Commission that the proposed preliminary plan included “12.90 acres of required open space,” thereby providing evidence in the record to support the Commission’s approval. (R. 217-218). Note that under Option #1, “the required open space may include both developable and undevelopable land.” *See*, Zoning Ordinance, § 7:2.4-6. (R. 399). Therefore, it is inconsequential whether the open space is developable, undevelopable, or a combination of the two. Nonetheless, the delineation of the open space was included on the revised preliminary plan (updated April 26, 2021), which is what the Commission approved on May 26, 2021. (R. 96).

As mentioned above, the Appellants rely on a property survey dated June 17, 2021, to argue (1) that some of the “developable open space” may include wetlands and (2) that the property is actually 43.6989 acres, which would require 13.1 acres of open space. In addition to the obvious fact that a survey that came into existence after the Planning Commission’s decision has no bearing on the propriety of its decision, these are two meritless points that are raised. If

the “developable open space” includes wetlands, it would still qualify as “undevelopable open space” and can be recategorized as such, but by ordinance “the required open space may include both developable and undevelopable land.” See, Zoning Ordinance, § 7:2.4-6. (R. 399). Thus, that is a non-issue. Second, if the dimensions of the property are determined to be actually larger than 43.0 acres, which was the acreage provided to the Planning Commission when it made its decision, that is harmless error, as the lower court noted, and it can be corrected before final development plan approval. (R. 12). Such “after-discovered evidence,” so to speak, does not negate the decision made by the Planning Commission which is obviously and necessarily based on the evidence presented at the time of the decision. The lower court therefore was correct in affirming the Planning Commission’s approval of the preliminary plan, including the cluster development requirements under LDR Article 11.

V. The lower court correctly rejected the Appellants’ claim that they were denied procedural due process.

Lastly, the Appellants argue that the Planning Commission violated their procedural due process rights by not placing the preliminary plan (updated April 26, 2021) on its website prior to the May 26, 2021 meeting. The lower court was correct in rejecting that argument.

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